IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

The People of the State of California,) No. S268925
Plaintiff and Respondent,)
v.) Ct. App. 4/2
) No. E073204
Cory Juan Braden, Jr.,)
Defendant and Appellant.) Sup. Ct. No.
) FVI18001116

On review from the
California Court of Appeal,
Fourth Appellate District, Division Two
and the
Superior Court of California for the
County of San Bernardino
Honorable John M. Tomberlin, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CINDY BRINES
State Bar No. 169125
P.O. Box 2712
San Pedro, California 90731
Telephone: (818) 298-0017
cindybrines@sbcglobal.net
Attorney for Appellant
Appointed by the
Supreme Court of California

Issue Presented

This Court has limited review in this case to the following issue:

What is the latest point at which a defendant's request for mental health diversion is timely under Penal Code¹ section 1001.36?² (Order of July 14, 2021.)

Introduction

The mental health diversion statute, section 1001.36, is the leading edge of a fundamental change in how our criminal justice system treats persons with serious mental disorders. It shifts proper discretion as to mentally ill offenders toward treatment and away from incarceration.

Appellant Cory Juan Braden, Jr., is the kind of person section 1001.36 was written for. Appellant was involved in a family argument. His sister called the police about the incident and informed them that appellant was schizophrenic and was off his medication. An altercation occurred between appellant and the responding officer when the officer attempted to take appellant into custody. Appellant was charged with resisting arrest with force and after the preliminary hearing requested to represent himself. Prior to the commencement of trial, section 1001.36 became effective. During trial, appellant testified on his own behalf. Appellant explained that he did not trust the responding officer because he had previously been beaten by the police and sent to prison for a crime he did not commit. Appellant could not understand how that prior incident happened to him

¹ All further statutory references are to the Penal Code, unless otherwise specified.

The complete text of section 1001.36 is included as Attachment A and bookmarked for the Court's convenience.

because at the time he had been military police on a counterterrorist team with Homeland Security. He felt the military left
him behind. Appellant also explained he believed the responding
officer for the current incident was racist and appellant feared for
his life. After appellant was convicted he withdrew his pro per
status and the trial court appointed a public defender to
represent him. Prior to sentencing, defense counsel requested
that appellant be considered for mental health diversion under
the new law. The trial court denied the request holding that it
was untimely and sentenced appellant to four years in prison
instead of considering the possibility of diversion and getting him
the help he needed. This is certainly not what the Legislature
had in mind when it created a mental health diversion program.

Prior to the enactment of section 1001.36, a trial court could not order mental health treatment, relevant counseling, or adherence to a medication regime unless the person suffering from mental illness was first convicted, and then placed on probation or sent to prison. However, the mentally ill were not receiving the types of treatment they needed while incarcerated because California's prisons are ill-equipped to deal with such defendants. The statute was created to solve this problem by giving courts the ability to grant mental health diversion "at any point in the judicial process from the point at which the accused is charged until adjudication" to meet the specialized mental health treatment needs of a defendant.

The issue presented in this case involves the statutory construction of section 1001.36 to determine at what point in the judicial process a defendant must request mental health diversion. The plain text of section 1001.36, the absence of limiting language in section 1001.36 found in other statutes, the codified purposes, and the history of the statute, demonstrate that the Legislature intended for a trial court to have the ability

to grant mental health diversion at any point until sentence is imposed. The trial court and the Court of Appeal here erred in concluding to the contrary and holding that diversion is only available prior to the commencement of trial.

The express purpose of section 1001.36, stated in section 1001.35, is to increase mental health diversion to defendants suffering from identifiable mental disorders in order to mitigate the defendants' entry and reentry into the criminal justice system. Commensurate with this purpose, the plain language of the statute demonstrates the Legislature's intent to give trial courts the discretion to grant mental health diversion at any point until imposition of sentence. The Legislature specifically included the definition of "pretrial diversion" meaning "at any point in the judicial process from the point at which the accused is charged until adjudication. . . . " In other words, the Legislature did not intend pretrial diversion to be limited to before the trial begins, as the ordinary meaning suggests. Additionally, in analyzing the potential meanings of "adjudication" as used in the definition of section 1001.36, the reasonable interpretation is until entry of judgment. Granting diversion until the entry of judgment is consistent with the purposes of the new law - to increase diversion to defendants suffering from mental illness. Construing section 1001.36 to limit diversion to before trial begins would be contrary to the Legislature's intent in enacting section 1001.36.

The legislative history further supports the idea of keeping the possibility of mental health diversion open until sentence is imposed. The legislative materials focus on the problems associated with incarcerating the mentally ill and providing them the specialized treatment they so badly need before being incarcerated.

Mental illness impacts roughly one-third of inmates in

California's prisons. Every single individual defendant who successfully completes diversion is a success for the state and society. Extending the benefits of mental health diversion to every qualifying mentally ill defendant to which it could apply, including all defendants up until sentence is imposed, would fulfill the purposes for which the statute was enacted.

Statement of the Case

On May 2, 2018, the court granted appellant's request to represent himself. (CT 15; Supp. CT 4.) In an amended information filed August 6, 2018, appellant Cory Juan Braden, Jr., was charged with one count of resisting an executive officer with force in violation of section 69. (CT 116-117.) The information further alleged that appellant suffered two strike priors pursuant to sections 1170.12, subdivisions (a) through (d) and 667, subdivisions (b) through (i).³ (CT 117.)

Appellant pled not guilty and denied the special allegations. (1RT 80.)

A jury found appellant guilty of resisting an executive officer with force in violation of section 69. (CT 136, 161.) The matter proceeded to a jury trial on the prior allegations. (CT 136.) The jury found true appellant's priors. (CT 138, 162, 163.)

Prior to sentencing the court granted appellant's request to withdraw his pro per status and appointed counsel. (CT 138.)

On September 11, 2018, the day for pronouncement of judgment and sentencing, trial counsel requested more time to evaluate appellant for Mental Health Diversion. (2RT 368-370, 372-373.) The court denied the request finding that appellant was ineligible because his request was untimely. (CT 189.)

The court sentenced appellant to the midterm of two years on the section 69 count, doubled pursuant to the Three Strikes law, for a total sentence of four years. (CT 203, 205.)

Appellant timely appealed the judgment to Division Two of the Fourth Appellate District. Appellant raised four issues in his appeal. First, appellant argued that his conviction for resisting an executive officer with force and violence should be reversed

³ The amended information indicates that the two prior strike allegations occurred on June 21, 2007. (CT 117.) The prosecution treated both allegations as one prior strike. (CT 199.)

because the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury on the lesser included offenses of simple assault, simple battery, and resisting a peace officer. Secondly, appellant argued that if the court did not reverse appellant's conviction for failing to instruct on the lesser included offenses as argued in Argument I, it should find the trial court abused its discretion in not treating resisting an executive officer under section 69, a "wobbler" offense, as a misdemeanor under section 17, subdivision (b). Thirdly, appellant argued if the court determined appellant's conviction remained a felony, it should find the trial court abused its discretion in not granting appellant's Romero⁴ motion. Lastly, appellant addressed the issue of whether he should have been given an opportunity to be evaluated as a candidate for mental health diversion under section 1001.36. The Court of Appeal rejected appellant's claims and affirmed the judgment in full.

This Court granted review and limited the issue to be briefed to the one listed at the outset of this brief.

 $^{^4}$ People v. Superior Court (Romero) (1996) 13 Cal.4th 497.

Statement of Facts

Prosecution Case

On April 25, 2018, Deputy Harvey was dispatched to a domestic disturbance between a mother and son. (1RT 97, 98.) Dispatch advised Harvey that the subject was schizophrenic, not on his medications and had a history of violence. (1RT 101, 141.)

Prior to arriving on scene, Harvey was flagged down by appellant's sister, the reporting party, who told him that appellant was inside the residence and she pointed to where he was. (1RT 105, 106, 130.) Harvey exited his car, walked up the driveway and contacted appellant at the threshold of the apartment doorway. (1RT 106.) Appellant was holding a backpack in front of himself with both hands. (1RT 106.) Harvey asked appellant to drop the backpack and come talk with him in the driveway. (1RT 106.)

When appellant walked toward the driveway Harvey told him that he was a San Bernardino Sherrif's Deputy. (1RT 107.) Appellant said he wanted to call 911 and requested to contact a supervisor. (1RT 107.) Harvey told appellant he was willing to call a supervisor, but that he first needed to secure the scene and conduct a pat down search. (1RT 107.) Appellant was holding a cell phone in his right hand which he placed on the hood of a car parked in the driveway. (1RT 108) Harvey testified that appellant then put his hands on his head. (1R 108.) Harvey stated that he considered appellant to be passively resistant so he took hold of appellant's left wrist, told appellant to place his other hand behind his back so he could conduct a pat-down search. (1RT 107, 108.) Appellant complied. (1RT 109, 164.) While Harvey was holding appellant's hands appellant tensed up, turned, and punched Harvey on the left side of his face with his right fist. (1RT 109.) Harvey backed up to assess the situation. (1RT 110, 113.) Harvey saw appellant take a fighting stance, grip his hands in a fist motion and move toward him. (1RT 114.) Harvey delivered two ineffective punches to the right side of appellant's face. (1RT 114.) Harvey did not pull out a weapon because it all happened too fast. (1RT 114.)

Appellant threw approximately three more punches at Harvey's face. (1RT 115.) Harvey tackled appellant to the ground and put his body on appellant's back to hold him down. (1RT 116.) Harvey delivered two more punches to appellant's left side because appellant's hands were free and he was concerned appellant had a weapon. (1RT 116, 117.) Harvey yelled for appellant to put his hands behind his back and held appellant's head down on the ground, but appellant continued to resist. (1RT 116, 117, 165.)

Deputies Sara Tamayo and Travis Gonya responded to assist Harvey. (1RT 118, 141.) Tamayo had information that the suspect was schizophrenic and off his medications. (1RT 141.) When they arrived they saw Harvey and appellant on the ground. (1RT 143.) Tamayo got on top of appellant and eventually Harvey, Gonya and her were able to get appellant's hands behind his back and handcuff him. (1RT 117, 118, 144, 145.) Tamayo noticed Harvey's baton was on the ground, but she did not see him use it. (1RT 150, 161.) Harvey explained that he did not use his baton, but while he was wrestling appellant to the ground the baton popped off. (1RT 162, 163.)

Appellant's mother, sister, and stepfather were present for the incident and stood approximately five feet away from the altercation. (1RT 111, 112, 116.) Appellant's sister was recording the incident with a cell phone. (1RT 116, 146.) Harvey told her to stop recording when Harvey got appellant on the ground. (1RT 230.) The video recording from her cell phone was played for the jury. (1RT 125; Exhibit 3 - CD, Exhibit 3A - transcript.)

Harvey was trained on use of force and in responding to

domestic violence calls. (1RT 101, 110.) Once a suspect stops resisting he must cease and desist force. (1RT 137.) At the time of this incident Harvey had been a police officer for approximately two years and Tamayo was in training and Gonya was her training officer. (1RT 97, 147.)

Harvey suffered stiffness to the left side of his face, and a bruised knee and right elbow. (1RT 120, 121.) Harvey's knee injury was a result of hitting it on the ground. (1RT 163.) Appellant suffered a bruised left eye. (1RT 121.) Tamayo and Gonya transported appellant to the hospital. (1RT 151.)

The video recording from appellant's sister's phone was played for the jury. The video began with the initial contact between appellant and Harvey on the driveway until they fell on the ground. (1RT 125, 138.) Harvey did not recall if everything was captured on the video. (1RT 139.)

Defense Case

Appellant testified on his own behalf. (1RT 166-193.) He testified that his sister called 911, which she had also done two weeks prior to this incident, and he did not know why she had called so he called 911 as well. (1RT 188.) 911 dispatch told appellant to stay on the scene so he did. (1RT 191.)

Appellant explained that he was distrustful of law enforcement because he had previously been beaten by the police and sent to prison for a crime he did not commit. (1RT 167, 168, 169, 178, 192.) Appellant could not understand how that could have happened to him because at that time of that prior incident he had been military police on a counter-terrorist team with Homeland Security yet no one from his unit came to rescue him. (1RT 168, 169, 176, 177.)

When Harvey arrived appellant told him that he feared for his life and wanted to call 911. (1RT 170, 191.) Appellant also asked Harvey to contact his supervisor. (1RT 192.) Appellant believed Harvey could be a racist and he did not trust him. (1RT 180, 187.)

Appellant testified that he agreed to a pat down and complied with Harvey's orders to put his hands behind his back. (1RT 171, 174, 192.) Harvey then grabbed appellant's wrist, jumped on him and punched appellant eight times. (1RT 171, 174, 192, 194.) Appellant explained that he never hit Harvey, he was only trying to block his punches. (1RT 174.) Appellant explained that when Tamayo came over to where appellant and Harvey were appellant did not have his hands under him because he was protecting his face. (1RT 175, 196.)

Appellant heard his sister say, "Cory, you have to stop," on the video that was played for the jury. (1RT 189.) Appellant stated that the video stopped just before Harvey raised his hand to punch appellant. (1RT 191, 192, 193.) The video also did not show other things that happened after it stopped like his mother telling Harvey to "stop hitting my son." (1RT 193.)

Prosecution Rebuttal

Appellant's mother testified that appellant and his sister were fighting so she got in between them. Appellant's mother stated that appellant was upset with his sister and kicked his mother in the groin and grabbed her by the throat. Appellant's sister called the police. (1RT 199, 200, 202, 203, 204, 205, 215, 216, 217.)

Appellant went outside to wait for the deputies to arrive. (1RT 200, 206.) Harvey told appellant he wanted to know what was going on and needed to check him. Appellant had his hands up, turned around, put his phone on the car and went at Harvey. Appellant and Harvey tussled and appellant ended up on the ground. Harvey got appellant's hands behind his back and handcuffed him. Harvey then punched appellant in the head seven or eight times. (1RT 200, 208, 209, 225, 227.) Tamayo

came to get appellant and put him in the police car. (1RT 200.)

Appellant's mother talked to Tamayo at the scene. (1RT 202.) At trial, appellant's mother did not remember telling Tamayo that appellant charged Harvey, but after refreshing her recollection with the police report she admitted she said that appellant charged Harvey. (1RT 212, 214.)

Argument

I.

The language, legislative intent and stated policy purposes of section 1001.36 indicate a court can grant mental health diversion at any point until sentence is imposed.

A. Background

On August 14, 2018, prior to sentencing, a public defender was appointed to represent appellant after the trial court granted appellant's request to withdraw his pro per status. (CT 138.) On September 11, 2018, trial counsel requested more time to evaluate appellant for Mental Health Diversion pursuant to section 1001.36, which became effective June 27, 2018 (Stats. 2018, ch. 34, § 24). (2RT 368-370, 373-373.) Trial counsel argued that Mental Health Diversion was an available option up until sentence was imposed. (2RT 368, 369, 372.) The prosecution disagreed arguing that Mental Health Diversion can only be considered pre-trial. (2RT 370.)

After hearing arguments regarding the possibility of Mental Health Diversion pursuant to section 1001.36, the court ruled that appellant was ineligible because his request was untimely and sentenced him to four years in state prison. (2RT 373-374, 405.)

On appeal, a panel of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Division Two, affirmed the judgment in an opinion certified for partial publication concluding that a defendant is ineligible for a pretrial mental health diversion program after his trial begins. (People v. Braden (2021) 63 Cal.App.5th 330, 333, 342.) In direct contrast, the Third District Court of Appeal in People v. Curry (2021) 62 Cal.App.5th 314, review granted July 14, 2021 (S267394), issued a published opinion and held that section 1001.36 allows a defendant to request mental health diversion up

until imposition of sentence and entry of judgment.⁵

This Court ordered review of the issue, "[w]hat is the latest point at which a defendant's request for mental health diversion is timely under [] section 1001.36?" The answer, as explained in this argument, is at any point up until sentence is imposed. The language of the statute, its codified policy purposes and the legislative history of the statute and its subsequent amendments support this interpretation. The Court of Appeal's contrary conclusion is not persuasive.

B. Standard of Review

Questions involving an issue of statutory construction are reviewed de novo. (Smith v. LoanMe, Inc. (2021) 11 Cal.5th 183, 190 (Smith).)

When interpreting a statute, a reviewing court's fundamental task is to determine the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the law's purpose. (*Smith*, *supra*, 11 Cal.5th at p. 190.) As the *Smith* court explained,

"'" [w]e first examine the statutory language, giving it a plain and commonsense meaning. We do not examine that language in isolation, but in the context of the statutory framework as a whole in order to determine its scope and purpose and to harmonize the various parts of the enactment. If the language is clear, courts must generally follow its plain meaning unless a literal interpretation would result in absurd consequences the Legislature did not intend. If the statutory language permits more than one reasonable interpretation, courts may consider other aids, such as the statute's purpose, legislative history, and public policy." [Citation.] "Furthermore, we consider portions of a statute in the context of the

⁵ Two other published cases have held that a request for mental health diversion under section 1001.36 is timely when made prior to the jury's guilty verdict/ or a plea of guilty. (*People v. Graham* (2021) 64 Cal.App.5th 827, 833, review granted Sept. 1, 2021 (S269509) [jury's guilty verdict]; *People v. Rodriguez* (2021) 68 Cal.App.5th 584 [plea of guilty].)

entire statute and the statutory scheme of which it is a part, giving significance to every word, phrase, sentence, and part of an act in pursuance of the legislative purpose." " [Citation.]" (Smith, supra, 11 Cal.5th at p. 190.)

C. Sections 1001.35 and 1001.36

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