No. S268925

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

CORY JUAN BRADEN, JR.,
Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E073204
San Bernardino County Superior Court, Case No. FVI18001116
The Honorable John M. Tomberlin, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROB BONTA (SBN 202668)
Attorney General of California
LANCE E. WINTERS (SBN 162357)
Chief Assistant Attorney General
STEVE OETTING (SBN 142868)
Acting Senior Assistant Attorney General
*AMANDA LLOYD (SBN 239682)
Deputy Attorney General
600 West Broadway, Suite 1800
San Diego, CA 92101
P.O. Box 85266
San Diego, CA 92186-5266

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

Importantly, *Rodriguez* and *Graham* acknowledged that they could reject the appellants' claims without defining the point when diversion becomes unavailable quite so finely as the Court of Appeal below. Therefore, they did not disagree with the holding below, but instead left open the question of whether a diversion request is untimely after trial begins. (*Rodriguez*, at p. 591; *Graham*, at p. 835.)

As discussed below, on balance, the statutory language favors an interpretation that pretrial mental health diversion must be sought before trial starts and jeopardy attaches. While another possible interpretation of the statute would allow diversion until the time of conviction, this should not be the normal course and should be permitted only where the defendant properly requests and consents to a mistrial in order to avoid a double jeopardy bar to retrial should the defendant fail at diversion. But no reading of the statutory language permits diversion to take place posttrial, after the point of adjudication.

1. Mental health diversion should be sought before trial starts

Of the three proposed interpretations, requiring mental health diversion to be sought before trial starts is the most reasonable. As discussed below, such an interpretation comports with the ordinary meaning of “pretrial,” is consistent with this Court’s precedent and other similar diversion statutes, and prevents double jeopardy problems.

Requiring diversion to be sought before a trial starts comports with the statute’s repetitive use of the word “pretrial” and initial reference to an “accusatory pleading.” (See § 1001.36, subs. (a) [“On an accusatory pleading” the court may “grant pretrial diversion”], (b)(1) [“Pretrial diversion may be granted” if all criteria are met], (c) [containing definition of “pretrial diversion”], (d)(1) and (2) [court to consider reinstating criminal proceedings if defendant is charged with an additional misdemeanor or felony “committed during the pretrial diversion”].) There can be no dispute that “pretrial” means “occurring or existing before a trial.” (See Merriam-Webster Dict. Online, <<https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/pretrial>> [as of Nov. 19, 2021]; see also Dictionary.com, <<https://www.dictionary.com/browse/pretrial>> [defining pretrial as “before a trial” and “prior to a trial”] [as of Nov. 19, 2021].) Moreover, once there has been a trial, the accusatory pleading no longer controls, but instead the jury’s or court’s verdicts. The defendant is no longer accused of committing a crime; he or she has been found guilty.

The Legislature’s use of the terms “pretrial” and “accusatory pleading” are thus clear textual evidence of the intended timing of eligibility for relief under the statute, for “a case is no longer ‘pretrial’ once a trial has started.” (*Braden, supra*, 63 Cal.App.5th at p. 334); see also *Rodriguez, supra*, 68 Cal.App.5th at p. 590 [“the legislatively-chosen words “pretrial diversion” were not inconsequential” and “strongly suggests a timing requirement”]; *Graham, supra*, 64 Cal.App.5th at p. 833 [same].) “After all, ‘pretrial’ exists in contradistinction to posttrial, and ‘pretrial *diversion*’ connotes a diversion away from trial. One cannot divert a river *after* the point at which it has reached the sea.” (*Graham*, at p. 833.)

This reading of the statute is also consistent with the common definition of “adjudication” as the *process* of deciding an issue, such as the court’s adjudication of a defendant’s guilt or innocence through trial. (See Merriam-Webster Dict. Online, <<https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/adjudication>> [first definition of “adjudication” is “the act or process of adjudicating a dispute”] [as of Nov. 11, 2021]; see also Dictionary.com, <<https://www.dictionary.com/browse/adjudication>> [first definition of adjudication as “an act of adjudicating”] [as of Nov. 10, 2021].; Lexico.com, <<https://www.lexico.com/en/definition/adjudication>> [definition of adjudication as “the action or process of adjudicating”] [as of Nov. 10, 2021].) In fact, this Court referred to “adjudication” as a “process” when discussing a 1972 drug diversion statute. (*People v. Superior Court (On Tai Ho)* (1974) 11 Cal.3d 59, 62 [“If it

appears the defendant may be eligible [for first-time drug offender diversion], the process of adjudication begins”].)

By using “adjudication” as a term defining “pretrial diversion,” the Legislature signaled that diversion should be sought before the process of adjudication begins, such as during the discovery, preliminary hearing, and pretrial motion stages of the proceedings; if not, the case would no longer be pretrial. “In settling on a fair reading of a statute, it is not unusual to consider the ordinary meaning of a defined term, particularly when there is dissonance between that ordinary meaning and the reach of the definition.” (*Bond v. United States* (2014) 572 U.S. 844, 861.)

The statute’s speedy trial waiver requirement also supports an interpretation that diversion must be sought before trial starts. This Court previously held that when a statute makes diversion contingent upon a speedy trial waiver, diversion must be requested before trial starts. (*Morse v. Municipal Court for San Jose-Milpitas Judicial Dist.* (1974) 13 Cal.3d 149.) *Morse* addressed California’s first statutorily-mandated diversion program—a 1972 statute (§ 1000.1) intended to divert first time drug offenders away from criminal prosecution. (*Id.* at p. 153.) This Court held that “the plain meaning of the waiver of speedy trial language of section 1000.1 is that the defendant’s consent to referral of his case to the probation department should be tendered to the district attorney *prior to the commencement of trial.*” (*Id.* at p. 156, italics added.)

Three years after this Court’s decision in *Morse*, the Legislature enacted section 1001.1, a misdemeanor diversion

program. (Stats. 1977, ch. 574, § 2 [enacting former § 1001.1].) Section 1001.1 was the first statute to define “pretrial diversion” as “the procedure of postponing prosecution of an offense . . . either temporarily or permanently at any point in the judicial process from the point at which the accused is charged *until adjudication*.” (§ 1001.1, italics added.) Nothing in former section 1001.1’s statutory scheme or legislative history suggests that the Legislature intended to deviate from this Court’s holding in *Morse*. (Stats. 1977, ch. 574, § 2, p. 1819.) As the Court of Appeal below posited, it is likely that the Legislature intended former section 1001.1’s reference to “at any point in the judicial process until adjudication” to codify *Morse*’s holding that pretrial diversion requests can be made at any time before trial starts. (*Braden, supra*, 63 Cal.App.5th at p. 338.)

The Legislature has enacted three additional pretrial diversion statutes since section 1001.1 that use the same “until adjudication” language and require waiver of the defendant’s speedy trial rights. (§§ 1001.50, subd. (c), 1001.52, subd. (a) [model misdemeanor diversion statute enacted in 1982]; §§ 1001.70, subd. (b), 1001.72, subd. (a) [parental diversion statute enacted in 1988]; § 1001.80, subds. (b), (k)(1) [military diversion statute enacted in 2014].) In interpreting the language of section 1001.36, it is appropriate to consider other statutes of which it is a part. As this Court has often observed, “we do not construe statutes in isolation, but rather read every statute ‘with reference to the entire scheme of law of which it is part so that the whole may be harmonized and retain effectiveness.’

[Citation.]” (*People v. Pieters, supra*, 52 Cal.3d at p. 899; see also *Lungren v. Deukmejian* (1988) 45 Cal.3d 727, 735 [“The meaning of a statute may not be determined from a single word or sentence; the words must be construed in context, and provisions relating to the same subject matter must be harmonized to the extent possible”].) Thus, section 1001.36 should be interpreted as one of several pretrial diversion programs that use the same language this Court is now interpreting.

In contrast, other diversion programs do not apply “pretrial” or use the same “until adjudication” limiting language. For instance, the Legislature has specifically recognized the existence of “posttrial programs.” (See §§ 1001.2, 1001.51, subd. (b).) The Legislature also chose to use different limiting language for diversion of defendants with cognitive developmental disabilities. For these persons, diversion is available “at any stage of the criminal proceedings”—that is, without any limitation as to whether the case has been adjudicated. (§ 1001.21, subd. (a).) It is a venerable canon of statutory interpretation that “[w]here a statute, with reference to one subject contains a given provision, the omission of such provision from a similar statute concerning a related subject . . . is significant to show that a different intention existed.” (*Moncharsh v. Heily & Blase* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 1, 26, internal quotation marks omitted; see also *In re Jennings* (2004) 34 Cal.4th 254, 273.)

These differences in diversion statutes demonstrate that the Legislature was well-equipped to allow diversion without limitation “at any stage of the proceedings,” or alternatively allow

diversion at posttrial phases when crafting the statutory language for its diversion programs. In drafting section 1001.36, however, the Legislature rejected the broad, limitless language applicable for diversion of persons with cognitive disabilities and instead chose to limit the application “until adjudication,” as it had previously done with other pretrial diversion statutes. Accordingly, the language of section 1001.36 strongly suggests that mental health diversion should be sought before trial starts.

2. Alternatively, mental health diversion may be sought before a verdict is reached, but only if certain conditions are met

Setting aside the holding in *Morse* that the speedy trial language used in section 1001.36 requires diversion to be sought before trial starts, another possible reading of the statute is that mental health diversion can be granted up until a determination of guilt. But as discussed below, this interpretation raises double jeopardy issues that are not addressed in the statute and would require that additional precautions be taken to ensure criminal proceedings could proceed when a defendant fail out of diversion.

California courts have explained, in the criminal context, that “guilt is adjudicated at trial or admitted by plea.” (*People v. Clancey* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 562, 570, quoting *People v. Superior Court (Smith)* (1978) 82 Cal.App.3d 909, 916.) That is the definition that was adopted by *Graham* when it reviewed the timing of section 1001.36: “adjudication’ typically refers to an adjudication of guilt—whether by plea . . . or by jury verdict.” (*Graham, supra*, 64 Cal.App.5th at p. 833.) Interpreted this way,

“adjudication” becomes the determination of guilt as opposed to the process of deciding guilt.

Courts have sometimes distinguished between adjudications of guilt and the rendering of final judgment. (*In re DeLong* (2001) 93 Cal.App.4th 562, 568-570 [interpreting Proposition 36, court concluded that “conviction” included both concepts]; cf. *People v. Mendoza* (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 1030, 1035 [conviction means adjudication of guilt, but does not include sentencing].) This limited definition of resolution by a trier of fact comports with the manner in which the Legislature has used the term “adjudication” elsewhere in the Penal Code. (E.g., § 299, subd. (b)(2) [regarding effect of dismissals “prior to adjudication by a trier of fact”].) It is also in line with this Court’s comparison of a bench trial in a criminal case with the adjudication of a jurisdictional petition in a juvenile delinquency case. (See *People v. Superior Court (Lara)* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 299, 306.)

But even though this interpretation is plausible under the statutory language, allowing diversion to be granted after a trial starts raises double jeopardy issues not contemplated by the statute. Once a jury has been empaneled and sworn, jeopardy has attached. (*Crist v. Bretz* (1977) 437 U.S. 28, 38; *Curry v. Superior Court* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 707, 712.) The Legislature anticipated, however, that some defendants placed on diversion would fail out of the program. (See § 1001.36, subd. (d) [regarding reinstatement of criminal proceedings].) If diversion were granted midtrial, the trial court would have to declare a mistrial and release the jurors with no ability to resume the trial

if the defendant fails out of the diversion program. Therefore, situations may arise in which criminal charges cannot be reinstated if the defendant does not successfully complete diversion because the trial court granted diversion midtrial after jeopardy attached but before a verdict was reached.

To avoid this constitutional uncertainty, the statute should not be interpreted as permitting a trial court to grant diversion midtrial. For if a trial court sua sponte grants diversion midtrial, or fails to obtain the defendant's consent to discharge the jury, retrial would be barred and the defendant would have no incentive to complete the diversion program because there could be no criminal consequences if he or she did not. Moreover, if a mistrial is improperly granted, the People would be deprived of their right to a jury trial (Cal. Const. art. I, § 16), not to mention due process of law and a speedy trial (Cal. Const. art. I, § 29), and the result would clearly be contrary to "the interests of the community" (§ 1001.36, subd. (c)(1)(B)). And while double jeopardy does not preclude retrial where a defendant requests and consents to a mistrial (*Curry v. Superior Court, supra*, 2 Cal.3d at p. 712), obtaining the defendant's consent creates another set of problems, such as ensuring that a person who suffers from mental illness gives knowing and intelligent consent to mistry the case.

The difficulties involved in ensuring that double jeopardy does not serve as a bar to further criminal proceedings when defendants fail out of diversion suggests that the Legislature did not intend to permit midtrial diversion. Indeed, nothing in the

statutory language anticipates the double jeopardy problem midtrial diversion would create, nor does it suggest how to overcome such issues. The absence of any elaboration of the careful rules that would be required to implement such a construction suggests that this interpretation, while plausible, is not the intended interpretation.

Respondent recognizes that these constitutional concerns are not insurmountable. For example, if this Court interprets the statute as allowing diversion after trial starts, this Court could—and should—exercise its supervisory power to ensure that retrial is possible if and when a defendant fails diversion. At a minimum, trial courts should require the defendant to request and consent to a mistrial, and courts should ensure that the consent is knowing and intelligent. But, the fact that this Court would have to resort to its supervisory powers to avoid these constitutional concerns corroborates the inference that the Legislature did not intend to create those concerns by authorizing diversion after a trial has started.

Finally, as will be discussed in part D below, several public policies militate against allowing diversion after a trial starts. For instance, the court would have squandered valuable resources by empaneling and dismissing a jury, only to repeat the process in the future if the defendant fails out of diversion. While these policies may provide reasons for a trial court to exercise its discretion to deny diversion midtrial, they also strongly support adherence to the statutory language, which only contemplates pretrial diversion. Thus, requiring mental health diversion to be

sought before trial starts remains the most reasonable interpretation of the statute even if proper precautions are taken to prevent a future double jeopardy issue.

3. A request for mental health diversion is untimely when made after a verdict has been reached

Regardless of whether this Court concludes that the statute's use of the phrase "until adjudication" allows diversion only before a trial starts or any time before guilt is determined, that limiting language cannot reasonably be interpreted to permit diversion posttrial. Appellant's suggested interpretation of "until adjudication" as "until imposition of a sentence" is inconsistent with the plain text of the statute, which contemplates *pretrial* diversion. Appellant is effectively trying to change pretrial adjudication into posttrial sentencing.

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